# **Screening for Type 2 Diabetes**

# **Report of a World Health Organization and International Diabetes Federation meeting**



World Health Organization

**Department of Noncommunicable Disease Management** 

Geneva

# **Screening for Type 2 Diabetes**

# **Report of a World Health Organization and International Diabetes Federation meeting**



World Health Organization

**Department of Noncommunicable Disease Management** 

Geneva

#### **Screening for Type 2 Diabetes**

#### © World Health Organization 2003

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Marketing and Dissemination, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel: +41 22 791 2476; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: <u>bookorders@who.int</u>). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to Publications, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; email: permissions@who.int).

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

This publication contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

# Contents

1	Introduction			
	Background1			
	2.1	Diabetes and its consequences		
	2.2	Screening for type 2 diabetes – why WHO and IDF convened this meeting2		
	2.3	Effects of screening on individuals, health systems and society		
	2.4	Screening and prevention - the links	4	
3	Aims	of the meeting	5	
4	Termi	nology – what is screening	5	
5	Evaluating screening tests and programmes			
	5.1	General issues		
	5.2	Issues specific to diabetes		
		5.2.1 Range of available tests		
		5.2.2 Evaluating screening procedures		
		5.2.3 Performance indicators		
		5.2.4 Performance of screening tests for type 2 diabetes		
		5.2.4.1 Questionnaires		
		5.2.4.2 Urine glucose		
		5.2.4.3 Blood glucose		
		5.2.4.4 Glycated haemoglobin		
		5.2.4.5 Combinations of tests		
		5.2.4.6 Public response to screening for type 2 diabetes		
		5.2.4.7 Frequency of testing.		
6	<b>T</b> 1	5.2.5 Assessing the risk of future development of type 2 diabetes		
6	The current evidence base			
	6.1	Evidence relating to the efficacy of early detection		
	6.2	Evidence relating to economic aspects of early detection		
	6.3	Evidence relating to the psycho-social effects of early detection		
7		ormulating policies about screening for type 2 diabetes		
	7.1	The aims and objectives of a screening policy		
	7.2	Epidemiological considerations		
	7.3	Considerations of health system capacity		
	7.4	Economic considerations	22	
	7.5	The choice of a test or tests	22	
	7.6	Competing priorities	23	
	7.7	Ethical and political considerations	23	
8	Widening the evidence base			
	8.1	The need for evidence from randomized controlled trials	23	
	8.2	The need for observational studies	24	
	8.3	The need for economic evidence	25	
	8.4	The use of modelling studies	25	
	8.5	The need for evidence on the psycho-social effects of early detection		
9	Imple	ementing policies about screening for type 2 diabetes		
10	Conclusions and recommendations			
	10.1	Conclusions		
	10.2	Recommendations		
Anne		List of participants of the WHO/IDF meeting		
Annez		Acknowledgements.		
		gures		
		gures		
NUIUI	ences			

Over the past decade it has been obvious that the prevalence of type 2 diabetes is increasing rapidly. Unless appropriate action is taken, it is predicted that there will be at least 350 million people in the world with type 2 diabetes by the year 2030. This is double the current number. Equally alarming and less well known is the fact that, of these people, only around one half are known to have the condition. This has been shown repeatedly in epidemiological surveys. An added concern is that half of those who do present with type 2 diabetes clinically already have signs of the complications of the disorder.

It has not yet been proven that earlier detection will improve the outcome of people with type 2 diabetes, but it seems logical to suggest that it may help. The implication of this is that people need to be screened for diabetes on a regular basis. There is still uncertainty whether this should be done on a population-wide basis or just for those people who can be shown to have a high risk. It is also uncertain at what age the screening programmes should be introduced, if at all.

This report focuses solely on screening for type 2 diabetes in non-pregnant adults. It does not consider screening for type 1 diabetes, screening for type 2 diabetes in children, nor screening for gestational diabetes. This is not to imply that these topics are unimportant. On the contrary, they are each important enough to require detailed consideration in their own right.

It is clear to both the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) that guidance is needed for both our member countries and member associations. Because of this the WHO and the IDF have come together to produce this document, which, though it poses as many questions as it answers, is a clear and logical start to a very serious debate. We hope that the report will provide guidance and provoke discussion and new studies and in the long term will be of benefit to the many people in the world with and at risk of type 2 diabetes.

Dr Derek Yach Executive Director Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health Cluster World Health Organization Geneva Professor Sir George Alberti President International Diabetes Federation

# 2 Background

#### 2.1 Diabetes and its consequences

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycaemia with disturbances of carbohydrate, fat and protein metabolism resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both<sup>1</sup>. The current diagnostic criteria are shown in Table 1 In summary, diabetes is diagnosed if the (venous) fasting plasma glucose (FPG) value is >= 7.0 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  (126 mg d $\Gamma^1$ ), or if the casual plasma glucose value is >= 11.1 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  (200 mg d $\Gamma^1$ ), or if the plasma glucose value 2 hours after a 75g oral load of glucose >= 11.1 mmol  $\Gamma^1$ (200 mg d $\Gamma^1$ ). In asymptomatic subjects, performing the test on one occasion is not enough to establish the diagnosis (i.e. basis to treat diabetes). This must be confirmed by carrying out at least one further test on a subsequent day.

Impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and impaired fasting glycaemia (IFG) are risk categories for the future development of diabetes and cardiovascular disease (CVD). An individual falling into the IFG category on the fasting result may also have IGT on the 2-h value or, indeed, diabetes. If an individual falls into two different categories, the more severe one applies.

The classification of diabetes is based on aetiological types<sup>1</sup>. Type 1 indicates the processes of beta-cell destruction that may ultimately lead to diabetes in which insulin is required for survival. Type 2 diabetes is characterized by disorders of insulin action and /or insulin secretion. The third category, "other specific types of diabetes," includes diabetes caused by a specific and identified underlying defect, such as genetic defects or diseases of the exocrine pancreas.

The latest WHO Global Burden of Disease estimates the worldwide burden of diabetes in adults to be around 173 million in the year 2002<sup>3</sup>. Around two thirds of these live in developing countries. Diabetes is no longer a condition of developed, 'industrialised' or 'Western' countries. Global estimates of the burden of IFG and IGT are not available, but the number of people with IGT is likely to be even greater than the number with diabetes<sup>4,3</sup>. IGT and IFG are now sometimes referred to as 'pre-diabetes' (a term not unanimously supported by those attending this meeting since diabetes will not necessarily develop in those with IGT or IFG).

The diabetes epidemic is accelerating in the developing world, with an increasing proportion of affected people in younger age groups. Recent reports describe type 2 diabetes being diagnosed in children and adolescents<sup>5,6,7</sup>. This is likely to increase further the burden of chronic diabetic complications worldwide.

Most of the consequences of diabetes result from its macrovascular and microvascular complications. (Some describe a third category – 'neuropathic', whereas others classify the diabetic neuropathies as microvascular complications.) The age-adjusted mortality, mostly due to coronary heart disease (CHD) in many but not all populations, is 2-4 times higher than in the non-diabetic population<sup>8</sup>, and people with diabetes have a 2-fold increased risk of stroke<sup>9</sup>. Diabetes is the leading cause of end stage renal failure in many populations in both developed and developing countries<sup>10</sup>. Lower extremity amputations are at least 10 times more common in people with diabetes than in non-diabetic individuals in developed countries<sup>11</sup>, and more than half of all non-traumatic lower limb amputations are due to diabetes. In developed countries, diabetes is one of the leading causes of visual impairment and blindness<sup>12,13</sup>.

People with diabetes require at least 2-3 times the health care resources of people who do not have diabetes, and diabetes care accounts for up to 15% of national healthcare budgets<sup>14,15</sup>.

# 2.2 Screening for type 2 diabetes – why WHO and IDF convened this meeting

The main reasons for the current interest in screening for type 2 diabetes and the reasons why WHO and IDF convened this meeting are:

- that there is a long, latent, asymptomatic period in which the condition can be detected<sup>16,17</sup>;
- a substantial proportion of people with type 2 diabetes are undiagnosed (Table 2);
- a substantial proportion of newly referred cases of type 2 diabetes already have evidence of the micro-vascular complications of diabetes<sup>18</sup>;
- the rising prevalence<sup>19</sup> of type 2 diabetes world-wide;
- the seriousness of the immediate effects and long-term complications of type 2 diabetes;
- evidence supporting the efficacy of intensive blood glucose control<sup>20,21</sup> blood pressure control<sup>22</sup> and blood lipid control<sup>23,24,25,26</sup> in type 2 diabetes and
- accumulating evidence that treatment of hypertension, dyslipidaemia (for example lowering LDL cholesterol<sup>23,24</sup>) can prevent cardiovascular disease in people with type 2 diabetes.

• increasing pressure from professional organisations, lay groups and from some of the member associations of IDF to institute screening for type 2 diabetes if only to further highlight the increasing prevalence and public health importance of the condition.

requests from national and regional health authorities and individual health care professionals for guidance as to what should be their policies for screening for type 2 diabetes.

#### 2.3 Effects of screening on individuals, health systems and society

Policies and practices for screening for type 2 diabetes have profound implications for individuals, health systems and society as a whole. Implications for individuals include:

- the time and other resources necessary to undergo the screening test (or tests) and any subsequent diagnostic test (or tests);
- the psychological and social effects of the results whether the screening test proves 'positive' or 'negative' and whether or not the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes is subsequently made and
- the adverse effects and costs of earlier treatment of type 2 diabetes or of any preventive measures instituted as a result of the individual being found to have diabetes. These may include occupational discrimination and/or increased costs or difficulty in obtaining insurance.

The effects on the health system and society as a whole are:

- the costs and other implications (especially in primary care and support services such as clinical biochemistry) of carrying out the screening test (or tests) and the necessary confirmatory test (or tests);
- the additional costs of the earlier treatment of those found to have diabetes or to be at high risk of developing diabetes or cardiovascular disease in the future and
- the implications of false negative and false positive results which are inevitable given that any initial test will be a screening test and not a full diagnostic test (except in the case of an OGTT with markedly abnormal values).
- any loss of production as a result of the earlier diagnosis of the condition (from absence from work or reduced job opportunities, for example).

The potential benefits of early detection of type 2 diabetes are:

- enhanced length and/or quality of life which might result from a reduction in the severity and frequency of the immediate effects of diabetes or the prevention or delay of its long-term complications.
- Any saving or redistribution of health care resources which might be possible as a result of reduced levels of care required for diabetes complications (reduced hospital admissions and lengths of stay etc.).

#### 2.4 Screening and prevention - the links

Any programme aimed at the early identification of type 2 diabetes through screening will also identify individuals with IGT and/or IFG. Thus any policy, whether related to public health or day-to-day clinical practice must specify what should be done when these conditions are identified.

The prognostic significance of IGT and, to an extent IFG, is being clarified<sup>27</sup>. Also, evidence concerning the effect of interventions in IGT is now available. In particular, interventions aimed at weight reduction and increased physical activity and the use of some pharmacological agents have been shown to be effective in reducing or delaying the transition to diabetes in those with IGT.

In general, lifestyle interventions appear to be more effective than medications<sup>28</sup> and the most important, recent trials published in peer reviewed journals are summarised in Table 3.

The Diabetes Prevention Programme (DPP) Research Group evaluated the cost-effectiveness of the interventions used in their trial<sup>29</sup>. Lifestyle intervention and metformin were both judged to be cost-effective. The lowest value for cost per QALY gained (from the health system perspective) was USD 8,100. This was for the comparison of lifestyle changes with placebo, with lifestyle advice given as it might be in routine clinical practice (i.e. less intensively) – to groups of 10 patients - and with the optimistic assumption that there would be no reduction in clinical effectiveness. The highest cost per QALY was USD 99,600. This related to the comparison of metformin with placebo, as implemented in the DPP trial (i.e. with individual clinical care). The equivalent costs per QALY gained from the societal perspective were USD 23,800 and USD 99,200.

Within the context of the US these were judged to be cost-effective. In health care systems with lower staff and/or medication costs these costs per QALY would be lower and the interventions, all other things being equal, would be more cost-effective.

Given this new, encouraging information on the prevention of or delay in the transition from IGT to diabetes, there is at least potential benefit from the detection of this condition through screening. Whether similar benefits will follow from the early detection of diabetes is another issue.

# 3 Aims of the meeting

The aims of this WHO/IDF meeting were:

- To review the scientific evidence for the usefulness of screening for early detection of type 2 diabetes.
- To make recommendations relevant to health care policy, action and future research.
- To explain these recommendations in a joint WHO/IDF Report.

# 4 Terminology – what is screening?

The Group's working definition of the term **screening** is based on that used in the WHO "Principles of Screening" document<sup>30</sup> (September 2001 draft):

"Screening is the process of identifying those individuals who are at sufficiently high risk of a specific disorder to warrant further investigation or direct action."

The definition goes on to say:

"It [screening] is systematically offered to a population of people who have not sought medical attention on account of symptoms of the disease for which screening is being offered and is normally initiated by medical authorities and not by a patient's request for help on account of a specific complaint. The purpose of screening is to benefit the individuals being screened."

The term **diagnosis** refers to confirmation of diabetes in people who have symptoms, or who have had a positive screening test. In diabetes, the screening test may be the diagnostic test (e.g. a fasting plasma glucose => 7.0 mmol  $I^1$  in someone who has symptoms) or the first part of the diagnostic test if a second test (usually the OGTT) is used to confirm the diagnosis in asymptomatic individuals.

There are several potential approaches to screening for diabetes:

- Screening the entire population (never actually suggested since all proposals have been, in some way, selective).
- Selective or targeted screening performed in a subgroup of subjects who have already been identified as being at relatively high risk in relation to age, body weight, ethnic origin etc.
- **Opportunistic screening** carried out at a time when people are seen, by health care professionals, for a reason other than the disorder in question.

'Selective or targeted screening' and 'opportunistic screening' are not mutually exclusive since screening may be limited to those at highest risk. In opportunistic screening, the decision to initiate the health care encounter is made by the individual, albeit for reasons not related to the condition for which screening is offered. This needs to be distinguished from screening programmes in which the invitation to come forward and be screened is part of the programme.

There is also 'haphazard' screening, characterised by a lack of a coherent screening policy. In such cases individuals may be invited to be screened irrespective of their risk (people in a supermarket, for example) or there may be no adequate explanation of the reasons for screening or no formal system of support for those taking part, whatever the outcome of their test.

# 5 Evaluating screening tests and programmes

#### 5.1 General issues

The **sensitivity** of a screening test is the proportion of people with the disorder who test positive on the screening test. (A highly sensitive screening test is unlikely to miss a subject with diabetes.)

The **specificity** of a screening test is the proportion of people who do not have the disorder who test negative on the screening test. (A highly specific test is unlikely to misclassify someone who does not have diabetes as having diabetes.)

Although it is desirable to have a test that is both highly sensitive and highly specific, this is usually not possible. In choosing a cut-off point a trade-off needs to be made between sensitivity and specificity, since increasing one reduces the other. The receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve expresses this relationship. The true positive rate (sensitivity) is plotted on the y axis against the false positive rate (1-specificity) over a range of cut-off values. Tests that discriminate well crowd toward the upper left corner of the ROC curve (Figure 1). In ideal cases, as sensitivity increases, there is little decrease in specificity, until very high levels of sensitivity are reached<sup>31</sup>.

What should happen, in practice, is that ROC curves should be used in conjunction with pre-specified performance indicators (such as the proportion of cases that should be identified, what proportion of retests are acceptable). Some measure of 'trade-off' between performance indicators is likely to be necessary.

**Validity** is the extent to which the test reflects the true status of the individual.

**Reliability** is the degree to which the results obtained by any given procedure can be replicated.

**Reproducibility** refers to obtaining similar or identical results on repeated measurements on the same subject.

Screening tests must be shown to be valid, reliable and reproducible in the population in which screening is to take place. Uniform procedures and methods, standardized techniques, properly functioning equipment, and quality assurance are all necessary to ensure reliability and reproducibility.

**Predictive value** relates to the probability that a person has or does not have the disorder given the result of the test. Thus:

**Positive predictive value** is the probability of the disorder in a person with a positive test result and **negative predictive value** is the probability of a person not having the disorder when the test result is negative.

The predictive value of a test is determined not only by the sensitivity and the specificity of the test, but also by the prevalence of the disorder in the population being screened. Thus, a highly sensitive and specific test will have a high positive predictive value in a population with a high prevalence of the disorder. This is part of the rationale for promoting selective or targeted screening. When the prevalence is low, as may be the case when the entire population (or the entire adult population) is screened, then the positive predictive value of the same test will be considerably lower. In this case, a high specificity drives a high positive predictive value. To avoid false positives (throughout the range of prevalence) it may be necessary to increase specificity at the expense of sensitivity.

Screening tests may be used **in parallel** (i.e. a person is deemed to be likely to have a disorder if they test positive to *either* test). In this case the sensitivity and the negative predictive value are generally increased and the specificity and positive predicted values decreased.

On the other hand, screening tests may be used **in series** (i.e. a person needs to be positive to *both* tests in order to be deemed likely to have the disorder). In this case the specificity and positive predicted value

are generally increased and the sensitivity and negative predicted value decreased. Tests in series have been advocated in type 2 diabetes (this is further discussed below) when, for example, a questionnaire may precede a fasting blood sample or OGTT and be used to exclude some individuals deemed to be at low risk of having the disorder.

# 5.2 Issues specific to diabetes

#### 5.2.1 Range of available tests

Screening tests for type 2 diabetes include **risk assessment questionnaires**, **biochemical tests** and **combinations** of the two. The biochemical tests currently available are blood glucose or urine glucose measurements, blood HbA<sub>1c</sub> or blood fructosamine measurements. Each screening test needs a designated and pre-determined threshold or 'cutpoint' that defines high risk. Screening tests are usually followed by diagnostic tests (fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and/or an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) using standard criteria) in order to make the diagnosis.

#### 5.2.2 Evaluating screening procedures

Meaningful evaluation and comparison of the performance of screening tests and procedures for diabetes should be carried out against specified criteria and should take into account the following basic principles:

- People with known diabetes should not be included in the prevalence data used to calculate PPV
- Selection of cut-off points:
  - should ideally be determined using ROC curve analysis because this considers performance over the whole range of cutpoints
  - alternatively these can be determined by using a common specificity or sensitivity
  - should take into account the aims of the screening programme, available resources to meet the workload which will be generated by the proportion of the population which will require further testing, and the importance placed on avoiding false positive and false negative results
- A valid assessment of screening tests requires the whole screened population (or a sample of them) to have diagnostic testing, not just those who screen positive
- Performance should be validated on a population different to that from which the screening procedure was developed

- A distinction should be made between an *epidemiological* and a *clinical* diagnosis of diabetes. An epidemiological diagnosis can be based on a single OGTT or FPG whereas a clinical diagnosis, in the absence of symptoms, requires confirmation by a repeat test.
- The precisely specified objectives of the programme.

# 5.2.3 Performance indicators

A standard set of performance indicators should be used to evaluate a screening procedure or test and include: statistical performance (sensitivity, specificity, PPV, ROC - area under the curve) and the percentage of the population identified which requires further or definitive testing. Additional indicators include information on the cardiovascular disease risk profiles of identified individuals and measures of the economic performance of screening tests and population measures such as the acceptability of the screening programme to those invited to attend, the extent to which any lack of acceptability reduces uptake, the psychosocial impact of each screening outcome – positive and negative, 'true' and 'false' and the ability of those found to be at risk of future development of diabetes to modify these risk

#### 5.2.4 Performance of screening tests for type 2 diabetes

These have been recently extensively reviewed<sup>32-35</sup>. Some caution is required in interpreting the statistical results reported in these reviews and below because in many studies the diagnosis of diabetes was made using diagnostic criteria which predate the current WHO and American Diabetes Association (ADA) criteria. Despite this, the data allow conclusions about general performance of the various approaches to screening for type 2 diabetes.

#### 5.2.4.1 Questionnaires

Several questionnaires have been developed to screen for undiagnosed diabetes and have included a range of questions covering both symptoms and recognised risk factors. If a person presents as a result of any of the symptoms of diabetes (such as thirst, polyuria etc.) and is confirmed to have the condition then this process is diagnosis and not screening. However, it is conceivable that people identified as having diabetes by means of a screening test or programme may, retrospectively, recognise the presence of symptoms which were not acted upon at the time. However, since the main purpose of screening is to detect asymptomatic people with undiagnosed diabetes, questionnaires which are based on the symptoms of diabetes are not considered here.

The original ADA "Take the test: know the score" questionnaire<sup>36</sup> included both symptoms and historical risk factors. A modified version of this questionnaire has been evaluated by Herman et  $a^{37}$  based on data from the Second National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey and had a sensitivity of 83%, specificity of 65% and PPV of 11%. This questionnaire was subsequently tested in a community screening program in Onondaga County New York and showed a sensitivity of 80%, specificity of 35% and a PPV of 12% <sup>38,39</sup>.

Griffin et al developed a risk score based on risk factors routinely collected in clinical practice<sup>40</sup> and evaluated this in a hypothetical notional population with the same age-sex structure as England and Wales. No cut off for the risk score was prescribed but rather criteria for deciding a suitable cut point were proposed. An example gave a sensitivity of 77%, specificity of 72% and PPV of 11%.

#### 5.2.4.2 Urine glucose

The usefulness of urinary glucose as a screening test for undiagnosed diabetes is limited because of the low sensitivity which ranged from 21% to 64% with specificity > 98% in studies which included performing an OGTT in the entire study population or a random sample of negative screenees<sup>32</sup>.

Examples of such studies include Davies et  $al^{41}$  who used a self-test for postprandial glycosuria and reported a sensitivity of a positive urine test of 43% and specificity 98%. Hanson et  $al^{42}$  studied Pima Indians with non-fasting urine glucose and non-fasting OGTT and reported a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 99% for a positive urine test for diabetes diagnosed on the 2hour non-fasting post glucose load plasma glucose result.

Friderichsen and Maunsbach<sup>43</sup> screened 2,242 people with a self-test for postprandial glycosuria and tested all people with a positive result and a random sample of 106 negative screenees with an OGTT and reported a sensitivity of 21% and specificity of 99%.

Despite its low sensitivity, urine glucose testing may have a place in low resource settings where no other procedure is possible. This is particularly so, of course, when the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes is likely to be high.

#### 5.2.4.3 Blood glucose

Many studies of this question have used the blood glucose measurement which was part of the diagnostic test. In addition many studies have included people with diagnosed diabetes in the statistical analysis of test performance. Only studies which excluded people with diagnosed diabetes are considered below.

**Venous fasting plasma glucose**<sup>32</sup> has a sensitivity between 40% and 65% with a specificity > 90% for FPG values ranging from 6.1 - 7.8 mmol 1<sup>1</sup>. Since the introduction of the new WHO and ADA diagnostic criteria for diabetes attention has focussed on comparisons of the cutoff point between normal and abnormal - FPG of 6.1 mmol  $1^1$  as recommended by ADA and 5.5mmol  $1^1$ , being the WHO cut point below which the diagnosis of diabetes is unlikely. Although a number of studies have supported the lower FPG value, there is no universal agreement on this point and ultimately the choice of cutpoint must be determined by the purpose of the screening programme and the resources required and available to perform further testing on the proportion of the population which would be identified by the choice of  $cutpoint^{33}$ .

Examples of studies which reported optimal sensitivity and specificity at the lower cut-point include Costa et  $aI^{44}$  who reported that this was achieved at an FPG  $\ge 5.4$ mmol I<sup>1</sup>, Larsson et  $aI^{45}$  at an FPG of 5.3 mmol I<sup>1</sup> and Cockram et  $aI^{46}$  at an FPG of 5.6 mmol I<sup>1</sup>. Modan and Harris<sup>47</sup> compared various FPG levels in people in the USA and Israel and concluded that no FPG level provided a satisfactory cutoff point to use in screening for undiagnosed diabetes. However an FPG of  $\ge 5.55$ mmol I<sup>1</sup> performed better than other levels with a sensitivity of 83% and 95% respectively in the USA and Israel with corresponding specificities of 76% and 47%, and PPVs of 17.2% and 11.8%.

A number of studies in different populations have reported on the performance of an FPG of 6.1 mmol  $1^1$ .

They report sensitivities ranging from 58%-87% (median – 81%) and specificities ranging from 75%-98% (median 92%)<sup>33</sup>.

**Fasting capillary blood glucose** has also been used for screening. Bortheiry et  $al^{48}$  reported that the best equilibrium between sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis of diabetes was achieved at a cutoff of 5.6 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  for fasting capillary blood glucose in their study of 4,019 Brazilian people undergoing an OGTT.

Studies on the usefulness of **random blood glucose** (RBG) as a screening test have mostly used random capillary blood glucose (RCBG) measured with a blood glucose meter. Two interrelated issues arise (1) the usefulness of RBG/RCBG in screening and (2) the accuracy of blood glucose meters for use in screening programmes.

There are few well designed studies which have properly addressed these issues with the main methodological problem being the failure to determine the overall prevalence of undiagnosed Type 2 diabetes in the cohort being studied by performing an OGTT in everyone or in a sample.

Three studies have examined RCBG (measured by reflectance meter) as a screening test for diabetes and performed an OGTT in the whole population irrespective of the RCBG result. Qiao et al<sup>49</sup> reported a sensitivity of 79% in men but only 40% in women while specificity was 86% and 84% respectively for men and women using for a value of 5.8 mmol 1<sup>1</sup>. Engelgau et al<sup>50</sup> reported that a value of 5.6 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  achieved a sensitivity ranging from 68%-74% and specificity ranging from 66%-77% depending on age. The authors concluded that different cutpoints are required to account for the postprandial period and age. Rolka et al<sup>51</sup> reported that RCBGs of  $\geq$  7.8mmol  $\Gamma^1$  and  $\geq$  6.7mmol  $\Gamma^1$  had sensitivities of 75% and 56% and specificities of 88% and 96% respectively.

The other important consideration with blood glucose meter measured readings is the accuracy of the result. While these are sufficiently accurate for day to day monitoring of diabetes control, their accuracy in screening for undiagnosed diabetes in routine practice, as opposed to the carefully controlled situations which have applied in published studies, has been questioned and attention drawn to the potential inherent inaccuracy of the method<sup>52</sup>. However these problems are not necessarily insurmountable and the final decision about their use will depend on resources and related practical considerations.

#### 5.2.4.4 Glycated haemoglobin

The desire to replace the OGTT with a simpler test has been a major factor behind the evaluation of glycated haemoglobin as a screening test for undiagnosed type 2 diabetes. Peters et al<sup>53</sup> performed a systematic review of articles published between 1966 and 1994 in which glycated haemoglobin  $(HbA_{1c})$ was measured concurrently with performing an OGTT. When an HbA<sub>1c</sub> plus 4SDs was used as a cutoff point, the sensitivity was 36% and specificity 100% compared with OGTT diagnosed diabetes using 1985 WHO criteria. An HbA<sub>1c</sub> cutoff point of 6.1%, which had been found to correspond most closely with a 2-hour plasma glucose concentration of 11.1 mmol<sup>-1</sup> in Pima Indians, included 41% of non-diabetic subjects and 21% of subjects with IGT  $1^{53}$ .

Davidson et  $al^{54}$  examined HbA<sub>1c</sub> levels from the NHANES III study and from the Meta-Analysis Research Group cohorts<sup>52</sup>. Using the 1997 ADA criteria for diagnosing diabetes, 60% of people in both datasets having diabetes diagnosed on the basis of an FPG of 7.0-7.7 mmol l<sup>1</sup> had normal HbA<sub>1c</sub> and one third had results within 1% of the upper limit of normal.

Measurement of HbA<sub>1c</sub> is not yet standardised around the world and has significant biological variation in non-diabetic subjects<sup>55</sup>. There is currently insufficient evidence to enable a judgement to be made regard to its performance as a screening test.

Fructosamine has been used less frequently than glycated haemoglobin measurement, and has not performed well because of sensitivities as low as 19%<sup>32</sup>.

# 5.2.4.5 Combinations of tests

Screening tests, as mentioned above, may be combined to improve performance. In relation to type 2 diabetes this can be done using the tests serially (e.g. assessing risk by questionnaire followed by blood glucose measurement if a certain risk score is reached) or simultaneously (e.g. measurement of blood glucose and  $HbA_{1c}$  at the same time). Combination testing is more resource intensive, especially if applied sequentially.

Tests performed in parallel using FPG and HbA<sub>1c</sub> or fructosamine have been reported to have a sensitivity ranging from 40% to 83% and specificity of 83%-99%, depending on the cut off values chosen<sup>32</sup>. Combining the modified ADA questionnaire and RCBG  $\geq 6.7$  mmol  $1^{1}$  achieved a sensitivity of 58% and specificity of 94%<sup>51</sup>.

An illustration of the effects of serial combination testing is shown in Table 4 for a screening protocol which initially assessed risk factors, performed FPG in those at risk, then measured HbA<sub>1c</sub> in those with an FPG between 5.5 and 6.9 mmol  $I^1$ , and then tested with an OGTT those who had an HbA<sub>1c</sub>  $\geq$  5.3%. This example illustrates that serial testing results in decreasing sensitivity, increasing specificity and PPV and reduces the number of people requiring definitive testing.

Multivariate logistic regression modelling with derivation of a probability value is another approach to combining demographic, clinical and biochemical tests in screening for undiagnosed diabetes. Tabaei and Herman<sup>56</sup> combined age, sex, BMI, postprandial time and random capillary plasma glucose to calculate the probability of undiagnosed diabetes and therefore the need for an OGTT. The calculation can be performed on a hand held programmable calculator and had a sensitivity of 65%, specificity of 96% and PPV of 63%.

#### 5.2.4.6 Public response to screening for type 2 diabetes

Not much is known about the public response to diabetes screening programmes. This is important in that the sensitivity of a screening programme, even if based on a test or tests of optimum sensitivity, will be severely reduced if uptake is low. Epidemiological studies of diabetes prevalence in the general population could serve as proxies to provide this information, but only prevalence studies with a high response rate are reported in the literature. In the few available studies that do report the response to a diabetes screening programme, it is in the range of  $30\% - 80\%^{57-60}$ . In all these studies the population invited for screening was defined by a specific age range only. There are no reports on whether the response of these populations would have been different if a higher-risk population were invited, defined by several known risk factors (age, obesity, family history etc.).

#### 5.2.4.7 Frequency of testing

There are no compelling data on which to decide the optimum frequency of screening for type 2 diabetes. One possible source of information could be studies of diabetes incidence or progression to diabetes from normal glucose tolerance, IGT or IFG.

The annual rate of progression from IGT and IFG to diabetes is  $3\% - 13\%^{-61,62}$ , which might argue for annual re-screening in people with IGT and/or IFG. However, there are fewer studies of the incidence of diabetes in normoglycaemic individuals. The available data indicate annual progression from that the normoglycaemia to diabetes is in the range of 0.6% -1.2%, depending on the population and the age group studied.

On the basis of the available data, the ADA have recommended screening of middle-aged normoglycaemic individuals at 3-yearly intervals<sup>63</sup>, while the British Diabetic Association (now Diabetes UK) recommended screening of 40-75 year-olds every 5 years if they have none of the recognised risk factors, and every 3 years in the presence of risk factors<sup>64</sup>.

# 5.2.5 Assessing the risk of future development of type 2 diabetes

In addition to the detection of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes there is increasing interest in identifying people without diabetes who are at increased risk of the future development of the condition. Any screening strategy which aims to identify people with undiagnosed diabetes which includes an OGTT will identify some people with IGT and IFG and screening strategies which use an FPG will identify people with IFG. Stern et al used a multiple logistic regression model to predict 7.5 year incidence of type 2 diabetes using readily available clinical information<sup>65</sup>. The model included age, sex, ethnicity (Mexican American/non Hispanic white), FPG, systolic blood pressure, HDL cholesterol, BMI and parent/sibling with diabetes. This model performed similarly well by area under the ROC curve with and without inclusion of the 2h OGTT blood glucose value.

The Finnish Risk Score is a recent example of a risk assessment tool designed to identify people at risk of the future development of diabetes without the need for laboratory tests<sup>66</sup>. The risk score included age, BMI, waist circumference, history of antihypertensive drug use or high blood glucose, physical activity and daily consumption of fruit and vegetables. A score of  $\geq$  9 had a sensitivity of 77% and specificity of 66% and PPV of 7% in a large cohort followed for 10 years.

# 6 The current evidence base

#### 6.1 Evidence relating to the efficacy of early detection

There are currently no definitive RCT data available on the efficacy of early detection of diabetes through screening. A number of relevant studies are in progress or have recently reported, albeit with weaker designs than RCTs.

'INTER-99' is a study currently taking place in Copenhagen county, Denmark. In this study, over 13,000 residents aged 30-59 were invited to take part in a screening programme and were randomised to intervention (90%) and control (10%) arms. Just over 50% (6,784) accepted the invitation and were tested with a standard 75 g OGTT. In the intervention group, people with newly diagnosed diabetes, IGT or at high risk of CVD (the upper quintile of risk) were invited to participate in a lifestyle modification programme concentrating on reducing fat and energy consumption and increasing physical activity. In addition, people received 'usual care' with respect to medication through their local practitioners. In the control group no specific action was taken and these people receive only usual care. The results are likely to be available in 2006.

The (Anglo-Danish-Dutch) ADDITION study<sup>67</sup> is screening over 200,000 individuals aged 40-69 years for diabetes in a step-wise screening strategy. It first identifies high risk individuals by means of a risk score and then confirms or otherwise a diagnosis of diabetes based on glucose concentrations at fasting and/or 2h after a 75g glucose load. As a result of this process, a predicted 3,000 individuals will be randomised to standard treatment or target-driven intensive pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment. The specified end-points are all-cause mortality and fatal or non-fatal macrovascular events. The study evaluates the effectiveness of screening and

intensive treatment with regard to these primary endpoints, the secondary endpoints of microvascular complications, the costeffectiveness of this approach and psychosocial factors such as stress and anxiety related to screening and subsequent treatment.

The study by Schneider et al<sup>68</sup> carried out in the former German Democratic Republic provides an analysis of a mass-screening programme based on urinary glucose levels, conducted in the former East Germany in the 1960's and 1970's. It suggested that those found, by screening, to have diabetes had an improved outcome compared with those presenting spontaneously with diabetes. However, the methods used in this study would not be acceptable given current criteria for RCTs.

In a *post-hoc* analysis of UKPDS (UK Prospective Diabetes Study) data the frequency of subsequent complications in relation to FPG on entry to the trial has been carried out<sup>69</sup>. The rationale behind this analysis is that FPG concentration on entry might serve as a surrogate for the duration of diabetes prior to recruitment. No significant difference in the frequency of end-points between 'incidental' and 'non-incidental' cases with FPG 10 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  and above was seen. However, a significantly lower rate of all major end-points was seen in the group with initial FPG <7.8 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  compared with the =>10 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  group and significantly lower diabetes related death rates and myocardial infarction rates when the <7.8 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  group was compared with the <7.8 – 10 mmol  $\Gamma^1$  group.

Although the UKPDS was not intended to test any *a priori* hypothesis related to the early detection of diabetes, these findings do suggest a benefit of intervention either at lower levels of FPG or at earlier stages of the natural history of diabetes and this may be consistent with a benefit derived from early detection. This latter inference is crucially dependent on whether or not the value of FPG is an indicator of prior duration of disease or simply a marker of the severity of the disease.

One of the purposes of screening for diabetes may be to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease in people with hyperglycaemia.

People with IGT and diabetes are at greatly increased risk of cardiovascular disease, including heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease<sup>70</sup>. This risk appears to be associated with both hyperglycaemia<sup>71</sup> and to an increased frequency of other recognised cardiovascular risk factors in people with diabetes<sup>72</sup>. Cardiovascular risk does vary according to the diagnostic criteria used, with glucose tolerance apparently more strongly associated with risk than fasting glucose levels<sup>73</sup>. Glycated haemoglobin levels also predict cardiovascular risk in non-diabetic as well as diabetic individuals<sup>74</sup>.

There is also now evidence that drugs that reduce cardiovascular risk are highly effective in people with diabetes (for example antihypertensives<sup>75</sup>, statins<sup>76</sup>).

Diabetes screening may therefore be considered as one element of a wider programme to identify individuals at increased cardiovascular risk who could benefit from pharmacological treatments and lifestyle change to reduce their cardiovascular risk. In practice this integration often already occurs where cardiovascular disease is a significant public health issue and policy for primary or secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease has been developed. For example, WHO guidelines recommend screening for diabetes in individuals with hypertension<sup>77</sup> and the National Service Framework for Coronary Heart Disease in the United Kingdom recommends screening for diabetes in individuals with documented cardiovascular disease<sup>78</sup>.

The appropriate relationship between cardiovascular risk reduction programmes and screening for diabetes will depend on local circumstances. If there is already a cardiovascular risk reduction programme, then the most cost-effective way of introducing screening for diabetes is likely to be an integrated programme that identifies individuals at high risk of both diabetes and cardiovascular disease and offers appropriate pharmacological and lifestyle interventions for both. This may influence the choice of population screened (targeting older individuals with other cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, for example). It may also influence the choice of screening test (if a fasting sample is taken it could be tested for both lipids and glucose).

In populations where cardiovascular disease is not a major cause of morbidity and screening is more appropriately directed at reducing microvascular complications, screening may target younger individuals who are at lower cardiovascular risk but do have a high lifetime risk of microvascular complications. Similarly the choice of a glucose tolerance test or fasting glucose measure to identify diabetes may partly depend on whether the focus is on reducing cardiovascular or microvascular risk.

#### 6.2 Evidence relating to economic aspects of early detection

Descriptive data on costs suggest that the health care costs of the screening itself are relatively low though there may be a substantial, and as yet unquantified, opportunity cost both to the system and to the individuals concerned. The costs of the subsequent treatment of diabetes are likely to be much higher than the screening costs. As the effectiveness of the management of diabetes becomes greater, the relative benefits of early detection will become less.

Without direct evidence of the effectiveness of early intervention, there can be no definitive statement of its cost-effectiveness. However,

modelling studies have been undertaken. For example, in the USA, the CDC Diabetes Cost Effectiveness Study Group published the results of an economic appraisal comparing the life time cost and benefit of opportunistic screening for type 2 diabetes in adults with the then current clinical practice<sup>79</sup>. This group considered only direct medical costs from a single payer's perspective. The benefit was analysed by using a computer simulated model incorporating the benefit of preventing and reducing long term micro vascular complications. The results demonstrated that opportunistic screening increases the lifetime costs of treatment by \$3,388 but results in a gain in life-years of only 0.02 years (1 week). To gain an additional life-year, the incremental cost of screening over current clinical practice was estimated at \$236,449, and the cost per QALY gained was estimated at \$56,649.

These same authors also compared the cost-benefit ratio of opportunistic screening for diabetes with that of breast screening for women aged 50 and above costing \$34,000-\$83,830 per life year gained, cervical screening for women above 21 years of age costing \$50,000 per life year gained and hypertension screening for adult men and women costing \$48,000 and \$87,000 per life year gained respectively. Screening for type 2 diabetes thus compares unfavourably with these other options.

In Taiwan, Chen et  $al^{80}$  used a computer simulation model to estimate the cost per QALY and life years gained comparing two mass screening programmes at two and five year intervals. The costs compared included cost of screening and clinical care of diabetes and its long term complications. The population disease progression model used in the computer was derived from studies in the local Taiwan population with, at that time, a prevalence of diabetes of 6%-12%. Unlike the CDC simulation mentioned above, the authors included the possible effect of reduction in macro vascular complications in their model.

This Taiwan simulation estimated a much lower cost of mass screening programme per life year gained compared to the opportunistic screening costs estimated by the CDC group. In Taiwan, the incremental costs for biennial screening regime were estimated at \$26,750 per life-year gained, and \$17,833 per QALY. The corresponding figures for five-yearly screening regime were \$10,531 per life-year gained and \$17,113 per QALY. Although this comparison is interesting, it would be misleading to draw firm conclusions from it since the assumptions made were not identical in the two studies and they relate to different populations. One particular difference between the models is whether the benefit of reducing macrovascular complications is or is not included.

In the absence of direct evidence on the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of screening for type 2 diabetes, simulations such as these which are totally explicit in the assumptions made, can prove useful guides as to the utility of screening in any given population.

#### 6.3 Evidence relating to the psycho-social effects of early detection

This is an under-researched area in general and in particular in relation to type 2 diabetes. Johnson et  $al^{81}$  report on levels of anxiety in relation to screening for type 1 diabetes. Parents of ICA positive children were reported to have the highest levels of anxiety followed by spouses of positive individuals with at risk children having the lowest levels of all.

Studies of conditions related to diabetes – hypertension and CVD are also available. A systematic review of the psychological impact of predicting individual risk of illness<sup>82</sup> included 21 studies related to CVD as well as two related to type 1 diabetes. Overall, the results showed a range from increased anxiety, depression or psychological distress through no effect to decreased levels. People undergoing multi-channel chemistry screening<sup>83</sup> generally show a short term increase in anxiety which dissipates over time. Abnormal results are associated with significant decrease in levels of perceived physical health, general health, perceived health and pain. The people most affected are those not offered any support.

More recently, Griffin *et al*<sup>84</sup> have suggested that screening for diabetes does not cause adverse psychological effects provided appropriate explanations of the procedure are given and provided there is appropriate follow-up. These conclusions have been strengthened by recent studies from The Netherlands<sup>85</sup> and from the USA<sup>86</sup>. The former interviewed 40 subjects involved in the Hoorn 'stepwise' population project which screened for diabetes. Twenty of these people had been found to have previously undiagnosed diabetes and 20 were at increased risk of having diabetes but did not, at least at that time, meet the diagnostic criteria for the condition. Although (or perhaps because) the newly diagnosed subjects had little understanding of the relevance of their diagnosis, only one was alarmed by it. Both groups expressed positive views about the screening. In the US study<sup>86</sup>, screening for type 2 diabetes at the Durham Veterans Affairs Medical Center identified 56 people with previously unknown diabetes (out of 1,253 45-64 year olds screened) who had similar SF-36 Physical Component Scores and Mental Component Scores to those who did not have diabetes, both at the time of screening and after one year.

Clearly these findings need to be confirmed with other subjects in other cultures. As public awareness grows of the significance of a diagnosis of diabetes and its possible long term consequences, the psychological effects may be more marked.

# 7 Formulating policies about screening for type 2 diabetes

Figure 1 summarises the issues which need to be taken into account when formulating a screening policy. Three epidemiological considerations have been included, four of health system capacity and two economic considerations. Each of these should be viewed as a spectrum from, at one end, a clear indication that screening should be instituted to, at the other, clear evidence that it should not. Any population at any one time will be at a given point along each of these spectra. The policy decision as to whether or not to institute screening will be a judgment which cannot, necessarily, be extrapolated to other situations.

In reaching this judgement, public health authorities, clinicians, diabetes associations and others should consider the following:

# 7.1 The aims and objectives of a screening policy

Aims should be clear and relevant to the context of screening individuals at risk of having undiagnosed diabetes or at risk of developing diabetes. These may relate to be the immediate effects of diabetes (e.g. infections), to the prevention of microvascular complications, to the prevention of CVD or to a combination of these. Thus, of crucial importance in relation to framing aims and objectives is knowledge about the most important consequences of diabetes in the population being considered.

# 7.2 Epidemiological considerations

The most important epidemiological consideration is the prevalence of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes; this is known for some countries and regions as a result of field surveys of diabetes using OGTT; where it is unknown, estimates can be made by extrapolation (ratio of previously undiagnosed to known diabetes is likely to be around 1:1 or 2:1 (Table 2) but might be as extreme as 1:2 (e.g. Brazil) or 6:1 (Tonga). If unknown, this can be determined by a relatively simple survey. If screening of any kind is initiated, data on the numbers of unknown cases identified need to be collected and analysed periodically.

# 7.3 Considerations of health system capacity

The main issues here are – the capacity of the system to carry out screening, follow-up and diagnostic testing and its capacity to manage effectively the newly detected cases of diabetes. The system must also be able to support individuals when the results of the screening are known, whether true positives, false positives or false negatives. The identification of people with IGT and IFG is a by-product of screening for type 2 diabetes and any screening policy needs to specify a clear

care pathway for such people Other issues are the capacity of the system to assess individual risks by using routinely available data. The first 'screen' might be made from such data<sup>87</sup> thus eliminating one attendance by the individual.

#### 7.4 Economic considerations

The cost of a screening programme will vary depending on the costs of materials, personnel etc. in any given setting. A large determinant of cost is whether the activity is conducted as a de novo activity or builds on existing health (e.g. primary care) infrastructure. Clearly, the former is more costly. Also varying costs in getting the person to the test. Cost of subsequent care will also vary widely (e.g. \$10,000/yr in USA vs. \$100/yr in India. It is the second of these (cost of subsequent care) which is the larger component of cost. May be difficult to build a holistic economic argument since direct costs and indirect costs fall on different public or private sectors and the funding of screening and subsequent treatment may come from different budgets lines.

Costs of screening may be reduced if screening uses routinely available information (for example using routine clinical information systems to identify people at high risk of diabetes) or by linking to other screening programmes (for example screening for glucose and lipids on the same fasting blood sample as part of a cardiovascular screening programme). Cost-effectiveness of treating screened individuals may also be increased by screening populations at particularly high risk of preventable adverse outcomes, for example populations with a high risk of cardiovascular disease. However, even the screening of high risk populations, such as those already known to have hypertension and dyslipidaemia<sup>88</sup>, can be costly. O'Connor et al<sup>88</sup> identified 1,548 such patients being cared for by a large medical group in Minnesota. After exclusion of those who had already been screened in the past year, those already known to have diabetes, those lost to follow-up (died or left the scheme etc.), one newly diagnosed case was discovered for every 40 high risk patients screened. This low yield resulted in a cost of US\$ 4.064 per case identified.

#### 7.5 The choice of a test or tests

This is a judgement dependent upon the characteristics of a test (sensitivity, specificity etc.) the cost of a test in any given context and the capacity of the system to apply the test. Costs are largely driven by the rate of detection of positives (true and false) and the need to follow these up and carry out diagnostic testing.

#### 7.6 Competing priorities

There will be competing priorities within diabetes – increased care for people with known diabetes v identifying new cases; also in the wider health care context - other health priorities such as communicable diseases; these need to be reassessed on an ongoing basis.

# 7.7 Ethical and political considerations

Valid argument for considering it the right of any individual to have diabetes diagnosed; this right needs to be weighed against any harm, anxiety etc. that may occur as a result of earlier diagnosis; also the harm done to false positive and false negative individuals; there is an opportunity cost if screening is carried out because the resources devoted to screening cannot be used for other purposes. No screening programme can be instituted without a political will to do so. The political will to institute screening may run counter to the supporting evidence.

Different expectations and ethical imperative depending on how the person comes to the test: disease – patient comes to seek advice screening – health professional imposes something on patient also medico-legal ramifications of not screening.

# 8 Widening the evidence base

#### 8.1 The need for evidence from randomized controlled trials

The benefits of early detection of type 2 diabetes through screening are not clearly established. The few available studies suffer from several types of bias that may lead to spurious conclusions regarding the benefits of screening.

The main sources of bias are as follows:

**Lead-time**: the interval between the time of detection by screening and the time diabetes would have been diagnosed in the absence of screening. Thus lead-time bias prolongs the apparent duration of survival and/or complication-free period simply by advancing the diagnosis.

**Selection bias:** People who enter screening programmes are volunteers who are almost always more health conscious than the rest of the population. Thus they are more likely to have a better disease outcome even without screening.

Length-time bias: This relates to the fact that individuals with rapid metabolic deterioration will tend to develop symptoms that prompt

them to contact health services. Thus only people with slowly progressing and milder disease remain to be identified by screening. These people are likely to have a better clinical outcome than rapidly progressing cases, regardless of the treatment.

**Over-diagnosis bias** occurs when enthusiastic screening results in diagnosing diabetes in people that do not have it. Since non-diabetic individuals have a more favourable life course than persons with diabetes, this difference in the outcome may be erroneously attributed to screening.

Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are usually regarded as the best means to evaluate the effectiveness of screening and early treatment. They are superior to observational studies because, if randomisation is successful, the possible confounding effects of individual attributes and health-related behaviours other than the decision to take up screening can be eliminated<sup>89</sup>.

One of the reasons why data from RCTs that apply available treatment to a screened group, but not a control group are unavailable, is that such studies require long-term follow-up of a large number of participants. The feasibility of RCTs is further decreased by the need to account for people who refuse to participate, as well as for people in the control group who are offered and accept screening outside the programme. Nevertheless, RCTs which can take into account these issues are potentially feasible and should be encouraged.

#### 8.2. The need for observational studies

RCTs to evaluate screening for diabetes have not been conducted so far, and even observational studies are scarce, in contrast to screening several other chronic conditions, particularly some of the cancers.

Once a screening method has been shown to be effective in an RCT, cohort studies in the general population could measure how a particular screening programme performs in a specific population. A cohort study could demonstrate the rate of particular outcomes among participants, refusers and non-invited subjects or screened versus non-screened communities.

In contrast to RCTs and cohort studies, case-control studies estimate the individual's risk reduction if screened, although the protective effect of the screening procedure itself is not quantifiable. Although case-control studies are often regarded with scepticism on account of length-time, lead-time and selection biases, these can largely be accounted for with appropriate design and analysis<sup>90</sup>. Case-control studies cannot replace RCTs for the evaluation of the effect of screening, but they can be used to monitor a programme's effectiveness once screening has been widely introduced<sup>91</sup>.

Recently, the STARD initiative<sup>92,93</sup> has made recommendations for the reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy. These recommendations include a checklist and flow diagram for the elements (such as the numbers of eligible patients, exclusions, abnormal, normal and inconclusive results etc.) vital to the interpretation of results. By analogy, standardisation of the reporting of observational studies of screening would facilitate their interpretation and enable their generalisability to be more easily assessed.

As a result of discussions at the WHO/IDF meeting, it was decided to establish the 'DETECT-2' collaboration. This will compare and evaluate selected strategies for screening for undiagnosed type 2 diabetes across a range of populations from diverse ethnic backgrounds and to establish simple screening strategy options. DETECT-2, by using population based data from various populations will examine the prognostic implications with regard to morbidity and mortality for individuals categorised on the basis of a screening programme for type 2 diabetes.

#### 8.3. The need for economic evidence

There are only two cost-utility evaluations for type 2 diabetes, one comparing opportunistic screening and the other comparing mass screening with routine care<sup>94,95</sup>. The US study did not include the benefit of preventing macrovascular complications. The study in Taiwan demonstrated that screening may be cost-effective in countries with high diabetes prevalence. There are no studies that have looked at cost-utility of screening for diabetes in populations deemed to be at high risk of type 2 diabetes.

#### 8.4. The use of modelling studies

All issues around the effectiveness of screening for diabetes cannot realistically be resolved by RCTs. The development of less costly and less time-consuming methods is to be advocated. One study used a Markov model to evaluate the efficacy of population screening for diabetes<sup>96</sup>, and another used the Monte Carlo model to estimate the lifetime costs and benefits of opportunistic screening for diabetes (CDC 1998). Both indicated there could be economic grounds for screening. Although modelling studies do not provide answers, they direct attention to the right questions which can then be addressed in empirical studies.

# 8.5 The need for evidence on the psycho-social effects of early detection

Screening may lead to over-diagnosis, inappropriate investigation and treatment, avoidable adverse effects and unnecessary psychosocial and economic costs<sup>97</sup>. However, there are no studies specifically examining

these issues in diabetes. Physical harm associated with screening for diabetes may be considered negligible, but psychological and social harm could be more substantial.

A diagnosis of Type 2 diabetes has potential implications for employment and personal insurance. Treatment with insulin precludes some forms of employment and insurance premiums are higher for persons with diabetes. Anxiety caused by false positive results in screening for diabetes is unlikely to be as high as that caused by false positive results in screening for cancer. However, since screening programmes involve a large number of people, even a small adverse effect on quality of life or health-related behaviour could affect public health. Therefore, studies of the psychosocial effects of screening in diabetes are needed to complement studies of effectiveness.

# 9 Implementing policies about screening for type 2 diabetes

Two examples of national policies, from Brazil and Mexico, favouring screening for type 2 diabetes are given on the following pages. While not necessarily advocating these approaches, the examples are provided here as illustrations of programmes which have been implemented on a large scale.

#### The Case of Brazil

Brazil recently performed nationwide community screening for diabetes and hypertension as part of its National Re-organization Plan for the Care of Diabetes and Hypertension. In addition to detection of undiagnosed diabetes, the purpose of the screening programme was two-fold:

- to raise public awareness of the importance of diabetes and hypertension, and
- to focus the efforts of primary care and health administrators on the restructuring and capacity building necessary for adequate diagnosis, basic treatment, and prevention of complications of diabetes within the primary care sector as well as for the creation of adequate referral networks.

Following an initial countrywide training of over 13,000 health professionals in the diagnosis and treatment of diabetes, a mass media campaign invited members of the public to participate in capillary glucose testing in March and April of 2001. Over 5300 municipalities participated in the effort.

During the campaign, 21.8 million (73% of those targetted, adults  $\geq$  40 years of age) were tested with glucose meters. Of these, 1% (about 0.25 million) had values  $\geq$  15mmol/l (270mg/dl) and were referred directly for medical management. An additional 3% (about 0.61 million) had glucose screening values above the diabetes cut-off points, and immediately received a referral for confirmatory diagnostic testing.

An additional 12% (3.4 million) were test positive at lower values (fasting  $\geq$  5.5mmol/l (100mg/dl) or non-fasting  $\geq$  7.8mmol/L (140mg/dl) and were counselled to return within 3 months for further evaluation. Within 6 months of the screening programme, an additional 1.2 million fasting glucose determinations were performed by outpatient laboratories of the National Health System, presumably, in great part, as a result of the diagnostic demand induced by the program.

Evaluation of the process and costs of this programme are currently contributing to Brazil's effort to shift diabetes prevention and management out of hospitals and into primary care.

For further details contact: Professor Maria Ines Schmidt (bbduncan@orion.ufrgs.br

#### The Case of Mexico: "You Have Diabetes but You Don't Know it"

In Mexico the 2000 National Health Survey demonstrated a prevalence of diabetes of 10.9% among those aged 20 years and over. This meant that in 2000 an estimated 5 million people were suffering diabetes in Mexico.

The Mexican Ministry of Health is conducting continuous diabetes (and hypertension) screening among those aged 20 years and over contacting their medical services for any reason. Volunteers are also evaluated during fairs and diabetes prevention activities such as those commemorating World Diabetes Day in some states. The target population of the government health care plan includes 41% of the Mexican population (about 41 million people in 2001).

The aim of the screening system is to identify those with undiagnosed diabetes to provide early treatment and prevent or delay the onset of long-term complications. It also focuses on the identification of those at high risk of presenting diabetes, aiming to decrease the frequency of known risk factors such as obesity, lack of physical activity and deficient diet. The screening process is divided in two phases. The first one is the identification of individuals at high risk of diabetes through the application of a questionnaire named "You have diabetes but you don't know it". This questionnaire has seven questions and includes the calculation of BMI and the measurement of the waist circumference. The questionnaire was validated previously for the Mexican population. During the second phase, those obtaining scores of 10 or more points in the questionnaire are tested for blood glucose. In cases with capillary fasting blood glucose of 100 mg dl or capillary non-fasting blood glucose of 140 mg dl, a confirmatory test is required. Confirmation of the diabetes diagnosis includes an Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) if needed.

Those with newly diagnosed diabetes and also those at risk are referred to different services included in the health system to commence diabetes education and treatment (if indicated). They are also invited to participate in a social group of people called "Mutual-help Group". Those who obtained scores lower than 10 points in the questionnaire receive counselling about maintaining adequate weight, diet and physical activity. The first evaluation of this plan in 2000 included a pilot of 6,186 persons in four states, 43% were considered at high risk of presenting diabetes and 1.6% was diagnosed with diabetes.

The cost of the screening was estimated at US\$8.36 per newly diagnosed person with diabetes. In 2001 overall 3,945,885 people were evaluated with the application of the questionnaire, 572,153 people were tested for blood glucose and a total of 273,149 people from 32 states were identified as newly diagnosed with diabetes. Results for 2002 showed that a total of 3,985,860 were evaluated through the application of the questionnaire, 576,825 blood glucose tests were conducted and 313,124 people were diagnosed with diabetes.

For further details contact the **Health Program for the Adult and the Elderly of Mexico**, at the **National Center for Epidemiological Surveillance** (<u>adulto anciano@salud.gob.mx</u> or www.todoendiabetes.org)

# 10 Conclusions and recommendations

# 10.1 Conclusions

- 1 The issue of screening for type 2 diabetes is important both in terms of individual health, day-to-day clinical practice and public health policy.
- 2 There is currently no direct evidence<sup>\*</sup> as to whether individuals will or will not benefit from the early detection of type 2 diabetes through screening.
- 3 Despite this lack of direct evidence, early detection through screening is already taking place both by inviting individuals from the general population to come forward for screening and, opportunistically, when individuals perceived to be at high risk of developing diabetes attend for health care (usually primary health care) for other reasons.
- 4 These activities present opportunities for collecting observational data which, although no substitute for direct RCT evidence, can provide important, circumstantial evidence about efficiency, costs and impact.
- 5 There is direct evidence that the incidence of diabetes can be reduced in people at high risk of the future development of type 2 diabetes who may be identified as a result of activities directed towards diabetes detection.
- 6 If screening can be shown to be beneficial, the most important *epidemiological considerations* determining whether to screen in any given population will be (1) the prevalence of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes in that population and (2) the degree to which type 2 diabetes is associated with risk of cardiovascular disease, diabetes specific complications and other important health outcomes in that population.
- 7 The most important *health systems considerations* will be its capacity (1) to carry out the screening (2) to provide effective health care for those who screen positive (3) to address the psycho-social needs of those who undergo screening and (4) to implement effective prevention in those who, though not confirmed to have diabetes at the time, are at high risk of its future development.
- 8 The most important *population considerations* will be (1) the acceptability of the screening programme to those invited to

<sup>\* &#</sup>x27;Direct evidence' is that from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) specifically designed to answer questions related to early detection through screening.

attend (2) the extent to which any lack of acceptability reduces uptake (3) the psychosocial impact of each screening outcome – positive and negative, 'true' and 'false' and (4) the ability of those found to be at risk of future development of diabetes to modify these risk.

- 9 The most important *economic considerations* are (1) the cost of early detection to the health system and to the individual (2) the extra costs of treatment following early detection and (3) the relative cost effectiveness of early detection compared with that of improving the care of clinically detected (as opposed to screen detected) cases.
- 10 The most appropriate protocol for screening for undiagnosed type 2 diabetes in a particular setting should consider (1) the sensitivity and specificity of the screening methods available (2) the number of people who will need to be screened (3) the number of people who will need subsequent diagnostic testing (4) resource implications and (5) costs.
- 11 Screening for type 2 diabetes is a dynamic topic in which new evidence will become available and further considerations will arise over time.

# **10.2** Recommendations

- 1 Health authorities and professional organisations should formulate policies concerning screening for type 2 diabetes even if the policy is that screening is not currently to be advocated. In formulating that policy, the benefits and costs to the individual and their well-being are of paramount importance.
- 2 There is an urgent need for direct RCT evidence on the effects of early detection of type 2 diabetes through screening. Such evidence should include health outcomes related to diabetes, cardiovascular disease, psychosocial outcomes and economic considerations for individuals, health systems and the wider society. Although RCTs directed to answering these questions may be costly and logistically difficult, there is, in the current state of knowledge, no ethical reason why they should not be undertaken.
- 3 Since the results of such RCTs will not be available for some time (if ever), there is also an urgent need to develop a framework (or model) which would permit countries to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of earlier detection of diabetes compared to other preventive and therapeutic interventions.
- **4** Testing apparently unaffected individuals at increased risk of having diabetes when these individuals attend for health care for other reasons (sometimes called 'opportunistic screening') *may* be justified provided (1) the reasons for testing are adequately explained to the individual (2) the health system has the capacity for the clinical management of those who screen positive (3) methods with adequate sensitivity and specificity are available (4) the psycho-social needs of those who screen positive and those who screen negative can be met and (5) the health system can implement effective preventive strategies for those confirmed to be at high risk for the development of diabetes. There is no evidence to justify haphazard screening.
- 5 If such opportunistic screening is advocated then this should be carried out according to a policy which should (1) be clear and relevant in its aims and objectives (2) be based as far as possible on sound evidence (3) take into account the epidemiology of type 2 diabetes and related cardiovascular disease risk in the population and (4) be sensitive to competing local health priorities.
- 6 The choice of the method or methods for screening will depend on the resources available, the acceptability of the methods in the population being screened and the levels of sensitivity, specificity etc. that are required. Methods of screening which might be regarded as unacceptable in high resource settings (e.g. testing for urinary glucose) may be suitable in low resource settings.
- 7 Where screening is already taking place, formal evaluation should be integral to these activities. The results of such evaluations could contribute to the general assessment of the value of early detection and should be used in the modification or curtailment of the activities being evaluated.
- 8 Given the dynamic nature of this topic, policies for screening for type 2 diabetes must be reviewed from time to time as new evidence accumulates.

### Annex 1 Participants of the WHO/IDF meeting (9-11 May 2002)

**Professor Sir K.G.M.M. Alberti**, Professor of Medicine, Department of Diabetes and Metabolism, The Medical School, Newcastle-Upon-Tyne NE2 4HH, United Kingdom.

**Professor S. Colagiuri (Chair)**, Director, Diabetes Services, Diabetes Centre, Prince of Wales Hospital, Randwick NSW 2031, Australia.

**Dr E. Goyder**, Public Health Section, SCHARR, University of Sheffield, Regent Court, 30 Regent Street, Sheffield, S1 4DA, United Kingdom.

**Dr W. Herman**, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Internal Medicine, 3920 Taubman Center, Box 0354, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA.

**Professor D Johnston**, Professor of Clinical Endocrinology, Imperial College School of Medicine, St Mary's Hospital, Praed Street, London W2 1NY, United Kingdom.

**Dr N. Levitt**, Endocrine/Diabetes Unit, department of Medicine, UCT Medical School, Old Groote Schuur Hospital, J-Floor, Obxservatory 7925, Sth Africa.

**Ms J. Lindstrom**, MSc Researcher, Diabetes and Genetic Epidemiology Unit, Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion, National Public Health Institute, Mannerheimintie 166, FIN-00300 Helsinki, Finland.

**Dr A. Ramachandran**, Diabetes Research Centre and MV Hospital for Diabetes, 4 Main Road, Royapuram, Chennai – 13, India.

**Dr M. I. Scmidt**, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Ramiro Barcelos, 2600/414, Porto Alegre-RS-Brazil, CEP 90210.

**Dr K. Siddiqi**, Nuffield Institude for Health, University of Leeds, 71-75 Clarendon Road, Leeds, LS2 9PL, United Kingdom.

**Dr N. Tajima**, 3<sup>rd</sup> Dept. of Internal Medicine, Jikei University School of Medicine, 3-25-8 Nishishinbashi, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105, Japan.

**Dr N. Wareham**, Department of Community Medicine, University of Cambridge, University Forvie Site, Robinson Way, Cambridge CB2 2SR, Royaume Uni, United Kingdom.

**Professor Zhu Xi-Xing**, Hua Shan Hospital, 12 Wulumuchi Zhong Road, Shanghai 200040, People's Republic of China.

#### WHO Secretariat

Dr A. Barcelo Dr R. Bengoa Dr H. King Dr J. Leowski Dr G. Roglic (Co-organiser) Dr R. Williams (Co-organiser and Facilitator) Dr D. Yach

# Annex 2 Acknowledgements

The co-organisers of the WHO/IDF meeting would like to acknowledge the contributions made by a number of individuals, both those who attended the meeting and those who have commented on various drafts of this report. Particular thanks are due to Professor Colagiuri who chaired the meeting and who has made extensive contributions to the text of the report. We would also like to acknowledge the assistance of Marie-Christine Nedelec in organising the meeting and Sally Belcher in the preparation of the final manuscript.

Table 1 – Biochemical criteria (venous plasma) for the diagnosis of diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose or impaired fasting glucose\*

	Glucose concentration, mmol $l^1$ (mg d $l^1$ )
	(Venous plasma)
Diabetes mellitus:	
Fasting <i>and/or</i>	=> 7.0 (=> 126)
2-h post glucose load	=> 11.1 (=> 200)
Impaired glucose tolerance (IGT)	
Fasting (if measured)	< 7.0 (< 126)
and 2-h post glucose load	=>7.8 (=>140) and < 11.1 (< 200)
Impaired fasting glycaemia or impaired fasting glucose (IFG)	
Fasting	
	=> 6.1 (=> 110) and <7.0 (<126)
and (if measured)	
2-h post glucose load	< 7.8 (< 140)

\*adapted from "Definition,Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications, WHO Geneva, and the "International Diabetes Federation IGT/IFG Consensus Statement"<sup>1,2</sup>. Venous plasma, venous whole blood and venous capillary values are given in the original reports.

 Table 2. Recent studies of the prevalence of known and previously undiagnosed

 diabetes in selected populations

Study	Country	Prevalence of previously undiagnosed diabetes (%)	Prevalence of known diabetes (%)	Ratio of previously undiagnosed to known diabetes
Levitt et al, 1993 <sup>98</sup>	South Africa	3.1	3.3	1:1
Mooy et al, 1995 <sup>99</sup>	The Netherlands	4.8	3.6	1:1
Park et al, 1995 <sup>100</sup>	South Korea	5.1	3.9	4:3
Elbagir et al, 1996 <sup>101</sup>	Sudan	2.2	1.3	2:1
Oliveira et al, 1996 <sup>102</sup>	Brazil	2.0	5.1	1:2
Mbanya et al, 1997 <sup>103</sup>	Cameron	0.7	0.5	3:2
Ajlouni et al, 1998 <sup>104</sup>	Jordan	4.5	8.9	1:2
Harris et al, 1998 <sup>105</sup>	USA	2.7	5.1	1:2
Jimenez et al, 1998 <sup>106</sup>	Paraguay	3.6	2.9	1:1
Castell et al, 1999 <sup>107</sup>	Spain	3.6	6.7	1:2
Shera et al, 1999 <sup>108</sup>	Pakistan	7.1	4.0	2:1
Tan et al, 1999 <sup>109</sup>	Singapore	4.9	3.5	1:1
Sekikawa et al, 2000 <sup>110</sup>	Japan	4.8	5.3	1:1
Ramachandran et al, 2001 <sup>111</sup>	India	4.5	10.5	1:2
Amoah et al, 2002 <sup>112</sup>	Ghana	4.4	1.9	2:1
Dunstan et al, 2002 <sup>113</sup>	Australia	3.7	3.7	1:1
Satman et al, 2002 <sup>114</sup>	Turkey	2.3	4.9	1:2
Suvd et al, 2002 <sup>115</sup>	Mongolia	1.9	1.2	2:1
Colagiuri et al, 2002 <sup>116</sup>	Tonga	13.0	2.1	6:1

# Table 3 – recent randomised studies demonstrating effective interventions in people with IGT $% \left( {{{\rm{T}}_{{\rm{T}}}} \right)$

Study (Country) and reference Da Qing Study (China) <sup>117</sup>	Initial participants and level of randomisation 577 men & women >25y. IGT (single OGTT, WHO 1985 criteria). Cluster randomised (by clinic).	Intervention s and length of follow-up Diet, physical activity, diet & physical activity and general advice (control). 6 y follow-up	Main outcomes Cumulative incidence of diabetes at 6 y: 44%, 41%, 46% and 68% (in 4 intervention groups respectively). After adjustment, reduction in diabetes incidence was 31%,
Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (Finland) <sup>118</sup> Diabetes Prevention Programme <sup>119</sup>	522 men & women, 40- 64 y. BMI >25 kgm <sup>2</sup> . IGT based on means of two OGTTs (WHO 1985 criteria). Individual randomisation. 3,234 men & women =>25 y, BMI =>22 (in Asians), =>24 in other groups. FPG 5.3 to 6.9 mmol $\Gamma^1$ and 2-h OGTT plasma glucose 7.8 to 11.0 mmol $\Gamma^1$ . Individual randomisation.	Diet and physical activity or general advice (control). Mean follow-up 3.2 y. Placebo or metformin (850 mg twice daily) both with general lifestyle advice or intensive lifestyle intervention. Mean follow-up	<ul> <li>46% and 42% compared to control group.</li> <li>Reduction by 58% in risk of diabetes in intervention group: 11% vs. 23% at 4 y.</li> <li>Incidence inversely associated with degree of compliance with intervention.</li> <li>Compared to placebo: 58% reduction in incidence of diabetes with intensive lifestyle intervention, 31% with metformin. Incidence at 3 years: 29%, 14% and 22% respectively.</li> </ul>
The STOP- NIDDM Trial (North America & Europe) <sup>120</sup>	1368 men & women aged 40 to 70 y, BMI 25 to 40, IGT (WHO 1985 criteria) plus FPG =>5.6 and <7.8 mmol $l^{-1}$ . Individual randomisation.	2.8 y. Placebo or acarbose (100 mg 3 times daily). General advice on diet, weight loss and physical activity. Mean follow-up 3.3y.	Cumulative incidence of 32% in acarbose group vs. 41% in placebo group.
TRIPOD <sup>121</sup>	235 Hispanic women with previous gestational diabetes. Individual randomisation.	Placebo or troglitazone. Median follow- up 30 months.	Compared to placebo: 56% reduction in diabetes incidence. After an 8 month wash-out period, beneficial effects of the drug still observed.

Table 4. Performance of Serial Combination Screening for Undiagnosed Diabetes in the Australian AusDiab study populations<sup>113</sup>

	Risk assessment alone	Plus FPG 5.5- 6.9 mmol l <sup>-1</sup>	Plus HbA <sub>1c</sub> <sup>3</sup> 5.3%
Sensitivity (%)	87	78	68
Specificity (%)	48	75	93
<i>PPV</i> + (%)	7	13	31
<b>PPV</b> -(%)	99	99	98
% population requiring OGTT	53	25	8



Figure 1. Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve

Figure 2 – considerations relevant to the development of a screening policy	
To Screen	Not to screen
Clear evidence that screening is beneficial	Clear evidence that screening is harmful
High prevalence of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes	Low prevalence of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes
High prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk and other complications amongst people with type 2 diabetes	Low prevalence amongst people with type 2 diabetes
High capacity of health care system for screening	Low capacity of health care system for screening
High capacity of the health care system for effective clinical management of those who screen positive	Low capacity of the health care system for effective clinical management of those who screen positive
High capacity of the health care system for supporting the psycho-social effects of screening	Low capacity of the health care system for supporting the psycho-social effects of screening
High capacity of the health care system to implement prevention strategies in individuals at high risk of the future development of diabetes even those who screen negative on that occasion	Low capacity of the health care system to implement these prevention strategies
Low cost of early detection	High cost of early detection
Low cost of clinical management	High cost of clinical management
Epidemiological considerations Considerations of health system capacity	Economic considerations

## Figure 2 – considerations relevant to the development of a screening policy

### References

- 1. World Health Organization. Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications. Report of a WHO Consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1999.
- Unwin N, Shaw J, Zimmet P, Alberti G. International Diabetes Federation IGT/IFG Consensus Statement. Report of an Expert Consensus Workshop 1-4 August 2001, Stoke Poges, UK. *Diabetic Medicine* 2002;19:777-723.
- 3. Wild S, Roglic G, Sicree R, Green A, King H. Global burden of diabetes mellitus in the year 2000. Global Burden of Disaese, Geneva: WHO, 2003.
- 4. King H, Rewers M. Global estimates for prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in adults. *Diabetes Care* 1993;16:157-177.
- 5. Rosenbloom AL, et al. Emerging epidemic of type 2 diabetes in youth. *Diabetes Care* 1999;22:345-354.
- 6. Dabelea D, et al. Increasing prevalence of type 2 diabetes in American Indian children. *Diabetologia* 1998;41:904-910.
- 7. Kitagawa T, et al. Increased incidence of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus among Japanese school children correleates with an increased intake of animal protein and fat. *Clinical Paediatrics* 1998;37:111-115.
- Morrish NJ, Wang SL, Stevens LK, Fuller JH, Keen H, WHO Multinational Study Group. Mortality and causes of death in the WHO multinational study of vascular disease in diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2001;44 (Suppl 2):S14-S21.
- 9. Bell DS. Stroke in the diabetic patient. Diabetes Care 1994;17:213-219.
- 10. American Diabetes Association. Diabetic Nephropathy. Diabetes Care 2002;25:S85-S89.
- 11. Siitonen OI, Niskanen LK, Laakso M, Siitonen JT, Pyörälä K. Lower-Extremity Amputations in Diabetic and Nondiabetic Patients. *Diabetes Care* 1993;16:16.
- 12. Anonymous. From the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Blindness caused by diabetes. *JAMA* 1996;276:1865-1866.
- 13. Kuzuya T, Akanuma Y, Akazawa Y, Uehata T. Prevalence of chronic complications in Japanese diabetic patients. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 1994;24 Suppl.:S159-S164.
- 14. American Diabetes Association. Economic Consequences of Diabetes Mellitus in the U.S. in 1997. *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:296-309.
- 15. International Diabetes Federation, World Health Organization. *The Economics of Diabetes and Diabetes Care*. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation, 1996.
- 16. Harris MI, Klein R, Welborn TA, Knuiman MW. Onset of NIDDM occurs at least 4-7 years before clinical diagnosis. *Diabetes Care* 1992;15(7):815-825.
- Thompson TJ, Engelgau MM, Hegazy M, Ali MA, Sous ES, Badran A, et al. The Onset of NIDDM and its Relationship to Clinical Diagnosis in Egyptian Adults. *Diabetic Medicine* 1996;13:337-340.
- 18. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. The UK Prospective Diabetes Study 30. Diabetic retinopathy at diagnosis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors. Archives of Ophthalmology 1998;116:670-677.
- 19. King H, Aubert RE, Herman WH. Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025. *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:1414-1431.
- 20. Ohkubo Y, Kishikawa H, Araki E, Miyata T, Isami S, Motoyoshi S, et al. Intensive insulin therapy prevents the progession of diabetic microvascular complications in Japanese patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: a randomised prospective 6-year study. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 1995;28:103-117.
- UKPDS Group. Intensive blood glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). *Lancet* 1998;352:837-853.
- 22. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. *BMJ* 1998;317:703-713.
- 23. Pyörälä K, Pedersen TR, Kjekshus J, Faergeman O, Olsson AG, Thorgeirsson G, et al. Cholesterol lowering with simvastatin improves prognosis of diabetic patients with coronary heart disease. *Diabetes Care* 1997;20:614-620.
- 24. Goldberg RB, Mellies MJ, Sacks FM, Moye LA, Howard WJ, Davis BR, et al. Cardiovascular events and their reduction with pravastatin in diabetic and glucose-intolerant myocardial infarction survivors with average cholesterol levels. Subgroup analyses in the cholesterol and recurrent events (CARE) trial. *Circulation* 1998;98:2513-2519.

- 25. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002;360:7-22.
- 26. Huang ES, Meigs JB, Singer DE. The effect of interventions to prevent cardiovascular disease in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Medicine* 2001;111:633-642.
- International Diabetes Federation. International Diabetes Federation IGT/IFG Consensus Statement. Report of an Expert Consensus Workshop. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation, 2001:1-34.
- Hamman RF. Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes. In: Williams R, Herman W, Kinmonth AL, Wareham NJ, editors. *The Evidence Base for Diabetes Care*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 2002:75-176.
- 29. The Cost-Effectiveness of DPP Interventions To Delay or Prevent Type 2 Diabetes. American Diabetes Association Annual Meeting 2002; 2002; San Francisco. American Diabetes Association.
- World Health Organization. Principles of Screening (draft). Geneva: World Health Organization, 2001.
- 31. Fletcher S, Fletcher D, Wagner E. Screening and diagnostic tests. *Clinical Epidemiology*. 2nd ed, 2000:51-55.
- 32. Englelgau MM, Narayan VKM, Herman WH. Screening for Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2000;23:1563-1580.
- 33. Colagiuri S, Zimmet P, Hepburn A, Colagiuri R. Evidence Based Guidelines for Type 2 Diabetes: Case Detection and Diagnosis. *Diabetes Australia and NHMRC* 2002.
- 34. Johnston DG, Alberti KG, Pierce M, Shepperd S. Screening for diabetes. A discussion document for the British Diabetic Association. 1993.
- 35. Engelgau MM, Narayan KMV. The Evidence to Screen for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. In: Williams R, Herman W, Kinmonth AL, Wareham NJ, editors. *The Evidence Base for Diabetes Care*. West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 2002:191-234.
- 36. American Diabetes Association. American Diabetes Alert. Diabetes Forecast 1993;46:54.
- 37. Herman WH, Smith PJ, Thompson TJ, Engelgau MM, Aubert RE. Take the test: know the score: a new questionnaire to identify persons at increased risk for undiagnosed diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 1995;18:382-387.
- 38. Knudson PE, Turner KJ, Sedore A, Weinstock RS. RE: Response to Knudson et al (letter). *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:1030-1031.
- 39. Herman WH, Smith PJ, Thompson TJ, Engelgau MM, Aubert RE. Response to Kudson et al (letter). *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:1030-1031.
- Griffin SJ, Little PS, Kinsmonth AL, Hales CN, Wareham NJ. Non-insulin dependent diabetes risk score: towards earlier detection of diabetes ingeneral practice. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 2000;16:1640171.
- 41. Davies MJ, Williams DRR, Metcalf J, Day DL. Community screening for non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: self testing for post-prandial glycosuria. *Q J Med* 1993;86:677-684.
- 42. Hanson RL, Nelson RG, McCance DR, Beart JA, Charles MAN, Pettitt DJ, et al. Community screening for non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: self testing for post-prandial glycosuria. *Quarterly Journal of Medicine* 1993;86:2133-2140.
- 43. Friderichsen B, Maunsbach M. Glycosuric tests should not be employed in population screening. *Journal of Public Health Medicine* 1997;19:55-60.
- 44. Costa A, Fernandez M, Gomis R, Conget I. The 1997 ADA diabetes diagnostic categories: impact on employees' annual medical examination. *Diabetic Medicine* 1999;16:528-529.
- 45. Larsson H, Ahren B, LIndgarde F, Berglund G. Fasting blood glucose in determining the prevalence of diabetes in a large, homogeneous population of Caucasian middle-aged women. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 1995;237:537-541.
- 46. Cockram CS, Lau JTF, Chan AYW, Woo J, Swaminathan R. Assessment of glucose tolerance test criteria for diagnosis of diabetes Chinese subjects. *Diabetes Care* 1992;17:436-439.
- 47. Modan M, Harris MI. Fasting plasma glucose in screening for NIDDM in the US and Israel. *Diabetes Care* 1994;17:436-439.
- 48. Bortheiry AL, Malerbi DA, Franco LJ. The ROC curve in the evaluation of fasting capillary blood glucose as a screening test for diabetes and IGT. *Diabetes Care* 1994;17:1269-1272.
- 49. Qiao Q, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Rajala U, Uusimaki A, Kivela SL. Random capillary whole blood glucose test as a screening test for diabetes mellitus ina middle-aged population. *Scand J Soc Med* 1995;55:3-8.

- 50. Engelgau MM, Thompson TJ, Smith PJ, Herman WH, Aubert RE, Gunter EW, et al. Screening for diabetes mellitus in adults. *Diabetes Care* 1995;18:463-466.
- Rolka DB, Narayan KM, Thompson TJ, Goldman D, Lindenmayer J, Alich K, et al. Performance of recommended screening tests for undiagnosed diabetes and dysglycemia. *Diabetes Care* 2001;24:1899-903.
- 52. Newman WP, Nelwson R, Scheer K. Community screening for diabetes. Low detection rate in a low-risk population. *Diabetes Care* 1994;17:363-365.
- Peters AL, Davidson MB, Schriger DL, Hasselblad V. A clinical approach for the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: an analysis using glycosylated hemoglobin levels. JAMA 1996;276:1246-1252.
- 54. Davidson MB, Schriger DL, ALm P, Lorber B. Relationship between fasting plasma glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin. Potential for false-positive diagnoses of type 2 diabetes using new diagnostic criteria. *JAMA* 1999;281:1203-1211.
- 55. Kilpatrick ES, Maylor PW, Keevil BG. Biological variation of glycated hemoglobin. Implications for diabetes screening and monitoring. *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:261-265.
- 56. Tabaei BP, Herman WH. A multivariate logistic regression equation to screen for diabetes : development and validation.
- 57. Chen HD, Swaw CK, Tseng WP, Chen HI, ML L. Prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in Aborigines and Chinese in eastern Taiwan. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 1997;38:199-205.
- 58. Davies M, Day J. Screening for Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM): How often should it be performed? *Journal of Medical Screening* 1994;1:78-81.
- 59. Bourn D, Mann J. Screening for non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in a Dunedin general practice - is it worth it? *New Zealand Medical Journal* 1992;105:208-210.
- 60. Davies MJ, Ammari F, Sherriff C, Burden ML, Gujral J, Burden AC. Screening for Type 2 diabetes mellitus in the UK Indo-Asian population. *Diabetic Medicine* 1999;16:131-137.
- 61. Edelstein SL, Knowler WC, Bain RP, Andres R, Barrett Connor EL, Dowse GK, et al. Predictors of progression from impaired glucose tolerance to NIDDM. An analysis of six prospective studies. *Diabetes* 1997;46:701-710.
- 62. Vaccaro O, Ruffa G, Imperatore G, Iovino V, Rivallese AA, Riccard G. Risk of diabetes in the new diagnostic category of impaired fasting glucose. A prospective analysis. *Diabetes Care* 1999;22:1490-1493.
- 63. American Diabetes Association and National Institute of Diabetes Digestive and Kidney Diseases. The Prevention or Delay of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:742-749.
- 64. Paterson KR. Population screening for diabetes mellitus. Diabetic Medicine 1993;10:777-781.
- 65. Stern MP, Williams K, Haffner SM. Identification of persons at high risk of Type 2 diabetes mellitus: do we need the oral glucose tolerance test? *Ann Intern Med* 2002;136:575-581.
- 66. Lindstrom J, Tuomilehto J. The diabetes risk score: a practical tool to predict type 2 diabetes risk. Diabetes Care 2003;26:725-731.
- 67. Lauritzen T, Griffin S, Borch-Johnsen K, Wareham NJ, Wolffenbuttel BHR, Rutten G, et al. The ADDITION study: proposed trial of the cost-effectiveness of an intensive multifactorial intervention on morbidity and mortality among people with Type 2 diabetes detected by screening. *International Journal of Obesity* 2000;24 (Suppl 3):S6-S11.
- 68. Schneider H, Ehrlich M, Lischinski M, Schneider F. Bewirkte das flächendeckende Glukosurie-Screening der 60er und 70er Jahre im Osten Deutschlands tatsächlich den erhofften Prognosevorteil für die frühzeitig entdeckten Diabetiker? *Diabetes und Stoffwechsel* 1996;5:33-38.
- 69. Colagiuri S, Cull CA, Holman RA. Are lower fasting plasma glucose levels at diagnosis of type 2 diabetes associated with improved outcomes? UKPDS 61. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:1410-1417.
- 70. Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, Wentworth D. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-year cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the multiple risk factor intervention trial. *Diabetes Care* 1993;16:434-444.
- Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil AW, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. *BMJ* 2000;321:405-412.
- 72. Claudi T, Midthjell K, Holmen J, Fougner K, Kruger O, Wiseth R. Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in persons with type 2 diabetes diagnosed in a large population screening: the Nord-Trøndelag diabetes study. Norway. J Intern Med 2000;248:492-500.

- 73. The DECODE study group on behalf of the European Diabetes Epidemiology Group. Glucose tolerance and mortality: comparison of WHO and American Diabetes Association diagnostic criteria. *Lancet* 1999;354:617-621.
- 74. Khaw KT, Wareham N, Luben R, Binghham S, Oakes S, Welch A. Glycated haemoglobin, diabetes, and mortality in men in Norfolk cohort of European Prospective Investigation of Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC-Norfolk). *BMJ* 2001;322:15-18.
- 75. Curb JD, Pressel SL, Jeffrey AC, al. e. Effect of diuretic-based antihypertensive treatment on cardiovascular disease risk in older diabetic patients with isolated systolic hypertension. *JAMA* 1996;276:1886-1892.
- 76. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20 536 high risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002;360:7-22.
- 77. WHO. Hypertension Guidelines for Primary Care Physicians. 1999.
- 78. Department of Health. National Service Framework for Coronary Heart Disease. 2000. London: Department of Health, 2000.
- 79. CDC Diabetes Cost-Effectiveness Study Group. The Cost-effectiveness of Screening for Type 2 Diabetes. *JAMA* 1998;280:1757.
- Chen TH, Yen MF, Tung TH. A computer simulation model for cost-effectiveness analysis of mass screening for Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2000;54 (Suppl 1):37-42.
- 81. Johnson SB. Screening programs for identifying children at risk for diabetes mellitus: psychological impact on children and parents. *Journal of Paediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2001;14:Suppl 1 653-659.
- 82. Shaw C, Abrams, Marteau TM. Psychological impact of predicting indvidual's risks of illness: a systematic reveiw. *Social Science & Medicine* 1999;49:1571-1598.
- 83. Mold JM, Aspey CB, Lawler FH. Outcomes of an insurance company-sponsored multichannel chemistry screening initiative. *Journal of Family Practice* 1998;47:110-117.
- 84. Griffin S, Little PS, Hales CN, Kinmonth AL, Wareham NJ. Diabetes risk score: towards earlier detection of Type 2 diabetes in general practice. *Diabetes Metabolism Research Reviews* 2000;16:164-171.
- 85. Adriaanse MC, Snoek FJ, Dekker JM, Van der Ploeg HM, Heine RJ. Screening for Type 2 diabetes: an exploration of subjects' perceptions regarding diagnosis and procedure. *Diabetic Medicine* 2002;19:406-411.
- 86. Edelman D, Olsen MK, Dudley TK, Harris AC, Oddone EZ. Impact of Diabetes Screening on Quality of Life. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:1022-1026.
- Griffin S, Little PS, Hales CN, Kinmonth AL, Wareham NJ. Diabetes risk score: towards earlier detection of Type 2 diabetes in general practice. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 2000;16:164-171.
- 88. O'Connor PJ, Rush WA, Cherney LM, Pronk NP. Screening for Diabetes Mellitus in High-Risk Patients: Cost, Yield and Acceptability. *Effective Clinical Practice* 2001;4:271-277.
- 89. Sasco AJ. Validity of Case-Control Studies and Randomized Controlled Trials of Screening. International Journal of Epidemiology 1991;20:1143-1144.
- 90. Sasco AJ. Lead time and length bias in case-control studies for the evaluation of screening. *Journal* of Clinical Epidemiology 1988;41:103-104.
- 91. Sasco AJ, Day NE, Walter SD. Case-control studies for the evaluation of screening. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 1986;39:399-405.
- 92. Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Burns DE, Gastonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig LM, et al. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: the STARD initiative. *BMJ* 2003;326:41-44.
- 93. Straus SE. Reporting diagnostic tests. BMJ 2003;326:3-4.
- 94. CDC Diabetes Cost-Effectivenss Study Group. The Cost-effectiveness of Screening for Type 2 Diabetes. *JAMA* 1998;280:1757.
- 95. Kuo HS, Chang HJ, Chou P, Teng L, Chen THH. A Markov chain model to assess the efficacy of screning for non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM). *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1999;28:233-240.
- 96. Chang H-J, Kuo H-S, Tung T-H, Chou P, Chen TH-H. Evaluation of a Population-Based Screening for Type 2 Diabetes: A Community-Based Screening Project in Puli, Taiwan. *Preventive Medicine* 2000;31:396-402.
- 97. Stewart-Brown S, Farmer A. Screening could seriously damage your health. *BMJ* 1997;314:533-534.

- 98. Levitt NS, Katzenellenbogen JM, Bradshaw D, Hoffman MN, Bonnici F. The Prevalence and Identification of Risk Factors for NIDDM in Urban Africans in Cape Town, South Africa. *Diabetes Care* 1993;16:601-607.
- 99. Mooy JM, Grootenhuis PA, De Vries H, Valkenburg HA, Bouter LM, Kostense PJ, et al. Prevalence and Determinants of Glucose Intolerance in a Dutch Caucasian Population - The Hoorn Study. *Diabetes Care* 1995;18:1270-1273.
- 100. Park Y, Lee H, Koh, C-S, Min H, Yoo K, et al. Prevalence of Diabetes and IGT in Yonchon County, South Korea. *Diabetes Care* 1995;18:545-548.
- 101. Elbagir MN, Eltom MA, Elmahadi EMA, Kadam IMS, Berne C. A Population-Based Study of the Prevalence of Diabetes and Impaired Glucose Tolerance in Adults in Northern Sudan. *Diabetes Care* 1996;19:1126-1128.
- 102. Oliveira JEP, Milech A, Franco LJ, The Cooperative Group for the Study of Diabetes Prevalence in Rio de Janeiro. The Prevalence of Diabetes in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Diabetic Medicine* 1996;19:663-666.
- 103. Mbanya JCN, Ngogang J, Salah JN, Minkoulou E, Balkau B. Prevalence of NIDDM and impaired glucose tolerance in a rural and an urban population in Cameroon. *Diabetic Medicine* 1997;40:824-829.
- 104. Ajlouni K, Jaddou H, Batieha A. Diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in Jordan: prevalence and associated risk factors. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 20019;244:317-323.
- 105. Harris MI, Flegal KM, Cowie CC, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE, Little RR, et al. Prevalence of Diabetes, Impaired Fasting Glucose, and Impaired Glucose Tolerance in U.S. Adults. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *Diabetes Care* 1998;21:518-524.
- 106. Jimenez JT PM, Cañete F, Barriocanal LA, Medina U, Figueredo R, Martinez S, et al. Prevalence of Diabetes Mellitus and Associated Cardiovascular Risk factors in an Adult Urban Population in Paraquay. *Diabetic Medicine* 1998;15:334-338.
- 107. Castell C, Tresserras R, Serra J, Goday A, Lloveras G, Salleras L. Prevalence of diabetes in Catalonia (Spain): and oral glucose tolerance test-based population study. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 1999;43:33-40.
- 108. Shera AS, Rafique G, Ahmend KI, Baqai S, Khan IA, King H. Pakistan national Diabetes Survey. Prevalence of Glucose Intolerance and Associated Factors in North West Frontier Province (NWFP) of Pakistan. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association* 1999;49:206-211.
- 109. Tan C-E, Emmanuel SC, Tan B-Y, Jacob E. Prevalence of Diabetes and Ethnic Differences in Cardiovascular Risk Factors. The 1992 Singapore National Health Survey. *Diabetes Care* 1999;22:241-247.
- 110. Sekikawa A, Eguchi H, Tominaga M, Igarashi K, Abe T, Manaka H, et al. Prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in a rural area of Japan. The Funagata diabetes study. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications* 2000;14:78-83.
- 111. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Kapur A, Vijay V, Mohan V, Das AK, et al. High prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in India: National Urban Diabetes Survey. *Diabetologia* 2001;44:1094-1101.
- 112. Amoah AG, Owusu SK, Adjei S. Diabetes in Ghana: a community based prevalence study in Greater Accra. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2002;56:197-205.
- 113. Dunstan DW, Zimmet P, Welborn TA, De Courten MP, Cameron AJ, Sicree RA. The rising prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance. The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:829-834.
- 114. Satman I, Aengûl A, Salman S, Tûtûncû Y, Sargin M, Dinccag N, et al. Population-based Study of Diabetes and Risk Characteristics in Turkey: results of the Turkish Diabetes Epidemiology Study. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:1551-1556.
- 115. Suvd J, Gerel B, Otgooloi H, Purevsuren D, Zolzaya H, Roglic G, et al. Glucose intolerance and associated factors in Mongolia: results of a national survey. *Diabetic Medicine* 2002;19:502-508.
- 116. Colagiuri S, Colagiuri R, Na'ati S, Muimuiheata S, Hussain Z, Palu T. The Prevalence of Diabetes in the Kingdom of Tonga. *Diabetes Care* 2002;25:1378-1383.
- 117. Pan XR, Li GW, Hu YH, Wang JX, Yang WY, An ZX, et al. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance. The Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care* 1997;20:537-544.
- 118. Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Erikson J, Valle T, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2001;344:1343-1350.

- 119. Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002;346:393-403.
- 120. Chiasson J-L, Josse R, Gomis R, Hanefield M, Karasik A, Laakso M, et al. Acarbose for prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the STOP-NIDDM Trial. *Lancet* 2002;359:2072-2077.
- 121. Buchanan T, Xiang A, Peters R, Kjos S, Marroquin A, Goico J, et al. Protection from type 2 diabetes persists in the TRIPOD cohort eight months after stopping troglitazone. *Diabetes* 2001;50 (Suppl. 2):A81.